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				This is a vast subject and no book can realistically cover the entire history of twentieth and twenty-first century architecture. If it could, it would either be too heavy to carry or else be set in such tiny type that it would be unreadable. This book is meant as an introduction or guide to the riches and sheer diversity of buildings from 1900 onwards, a period that has witnessed mind-boggling change and has seen human society rise to peaks of civilization and troughs of savagery and destruction. Human life at the beginnings of the twenty-first century is still very much a fight for living space, a space that architects shape and frame. Many of the best architects of the past century have been practical dreamers who have tried to push their art and society to new and civilized heights. They have set their compasses and T-squares (computers, too) on the face of the world and tried to create beautiful buildings in perfect towns and cities. People, however, are never as perfect as they are in architectural drawings and, all too often, the architect’s dream has been diffused or shattered by irrational human behaviour. War has been the one great destroyer. Greed, narrow-mindedness and the architect’s own inability to communicate ambitious ideas have been others. In fact, architects – Le Corbusier first among them – have been accused of trying to destroy civilization with designs for towers of concrete and steel and ambitions that 


			


		


		

			

				have witnessed the unprecedented demolition of historic buildings, streets and squares. This is unfair, although the architect has, on the whole, been a willing collaborator of governments, property developers and the moving spirit of the times. Architects, as Philip Johnson, a very clever US architect said, “are whores”: as members of one of the world’s oldest professions, they get paid for doing what other people want. And that means the design of banal office blocks and brainless shopping malls as well as beautiful private houses and churches that have the power to reduce the noisiest citizen to silence.


				Perhaps the problem for modern architects is that their talent has been spread thinly. They have been asked to design an ever-increasing number and range of buildings across the world on an ever-decreasing share of national and global income. Up until the Industrial Revolution, buildings were one of the greatest expenses most societies faced. They were expensive partly because they took a long time to build and required a great deal of skilled manual labour to do so and partly because they were the most visible means society had of expressing its confidence, power and culture. As the twentieth century drew on, there were so many other things for society to spend its money on: sophisticated weaponry, health, education, clothes, food, cars, holidays. Society might have wanted 
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				more buildings than it had in the past – and especially housing – and it certainly wanted a far greater range of buildings too – swimming pools, superstores, motorway service stations, airports, bowling alleys, corporate headquarters – but it wanted much more for much less. 


				Increasingly sophisticated technology and new materials enabled modern societies to build with ever-increasing speed. The results could be dire, and the architect was, plinth by cornice, reduced to the role of decorating highly serviced boxes that might be office blocks, apartment blocks, factories or out-of-town shopping malls. During the twentieth century, a century that saw the rise (and fall) of more buildings than ever before, the role of the architect was inexorably marginalized. Architects themselves do not see, or do not like to see, the world this way. And yet, increasingly, their role has been limited and powers curtailed. Again, this has been all but inevitable in a world in which the speed, scale and complexity of so much building construction means that the architect is simply a part of a team led increasingly by engineers and contractors. To preserve their role, architects have had to become “imagineers”, shaping and guiding the look of buildings and the way they relate to their settings.


				This is a quantum leap from the architect’s role at the beginning of the twentieth century. Yet the writing was already on the wall. The new century required a 


			


		


		

			

				new type of building, highly serviced machines for making and processing money, sophisticated junction boxes that were a world away from churches and country houses. The sharpest architectural minds could see what was happening, and struggled to interpret and express a new machine age in buildings that were intended to break with the past, but never could. For architecture is an art that seems never to have escaped its roots. Perhaps this is because in the cultures of East, West, North and South, the earliest architecture was also some of the very best. Over the last hundred years, as this book shows, Western architects have harked back to ancient Greece where architecture reached a state of near perfection in the fifth century BC. The Parthenon, even in its ruined state (blown apart accidentally by Turkish gunpowder stored there in the seventeenth century) stands as judge of all the architecture that has been built in the cast of its long shadow. 


				Again, this should not be surprising: architects try in their different ways to create order and would-be perfection from an imperfect world. Each new building by a good architect is a fresh attempt to create a model of perfection. A truly great architect, as you can see in these pages, can get close, but none has ever bettered the Parthenon. In one sense, it is also impossible to do so in an age that demands so much from its buildings and expects them to be machines for 
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				performing specific functions rather than as icons that express the core values, worth, technology and ideals of a society. The Parthenon did all these things. In those sun-bleached, pollutant-etched stones, the patient observer can read the story of Athenian society. 


				Twentieth and twenty-first century societies, for the most part, have been more complex (if not better) than that of fifth-century Athens and no single building is able to tell such a comprehensive tale as the Parthenon does. Our architecture is kaleidoscopic, its message fragmented and inconclusive. From the end of World War One to perhaps as late as the early 1970s, there was some sort of collective attempt by architects to create a new and comprehensive order: the Modern Movement. This cannot be readily defined, but, without doubt, there did appear to be a more or less collective desire among architects around the world to invent a language of design that was the equivalent of Latin in medieval Europe or English today. If there really was such a thing as the Modern Movement, it was doomed to failure. Architecture moves with society (although architects like to believe that it is the other way around) and social change ensured that there could be no one style of architecture that would ever be capable of freeze-framing the world.


				To help make sense of the many moods and styles of architecture that have emerged over the past hundred years, I have divided the buildings illustrated in this book into broad sections. These are not meant to be a perfect fit, but rather compounds into which buildings that would probably get on with each other pretty well if they could meet are herded. It is probably true to say that in the twentieth century, architectural ideas were exported 


			


		


		

			

				and imported with great speed and so you will find many visual cross-references from one style of building to another. All art, said Picasso, is copying and architects, with rare exceptions, have learned from one another and quoted from one another in their designs with pride as well as abandon. In fact, in architecture it is a sign of great sophistication to ensure that your peer group knows that you are making knowing references to past masters. “Masters” rather than “mistresses”, of course, for nearly every building shown in this book was designed and built by men.


				Because this is an introduction to modern architecture and because it can only be so big, this book relies almost entirely on photographs of buildings to represent them. To fully understand a building, it is necessary to get behind its façade and to study the way it is built up from a plan. Modern Movement architects saw the plan as a kind of moral as well as practical and aesthetic guideline. A building must be raised up from an “honest” (ie. functional) plan and its final shape should reveal the workings of that plan. In fact even the greatest Modernists cheated – thank goodness – and very many buildings shown in the following pages are not nearly as rational as their designers claimed them to be. Architecture 


			


		




		

			

				


			


		


		

			

				is as much about emotion as function. Even so, it would have been nice to have had the space to show plans and other drawings. In the event, it is probably better to look at the buildings, to long to see them and to find out more about them. There are thousands of books on various aspects of modern architects and architecture that will explain in detail most of the buildings shown here. And many monographs devoted to single designs. What I think this book can offer you is the big picture and the chance to make some sort of sense of an immense and inexhaustable story. If it makes you want to find out more, then it has done its job. If it encourages you to want to be an architect, good luck.


				I have visited very many of the buildings shown in the book and have included a number of those I find beautiful, moving or fascinating which have been excluded from previous “pantechnicons” of this kind. There are, however, many buildings that no writer would dare or dream of excluding. Why? Because there are buildings that define a moment, generate a mood or first make use of a new technology that cannot be ignored, not only because they are fascinating in themselves but because they were so influential.


				You will find prejudices in the writing. I think this is fair. How can anyone look at every building they meet objectively? I really do not have the stomach for most of the buildings listed in the section labelled “Less is a Bore”. I find what passed for Postmodernism in architecture, with honourable exceptions, ugly and crass. I do not think that architecture is a particularly funny subject and jokes writ on the scale of a building are embarrassing and even pitiful some years down the line. Buildings, except where land is very scarce and property values exceptionally high as in 


			


		


		

			

				Tokyo or Hong Kong, tend to have long lives. There are very few jokes from the nineteenth century that we still find funny. But the Parthenon, Le Corbusier’s chapel at Ronchamp and the Farnsworth House by Mies van der Rohe remain things of great and ineffable beauty. They are not remotely funny.


				I hope that the book, and especially because we have tried to source really good photographs, will also help you see that a beautiful building might well be made from tough modern materials that most people associate with ugliness and even inhumanity. Look again and then go and see how a genius like Le Corbusier or Louis Kahn uses concrete, or notice how the play of sunlight on steel beams or weather-boarded concrete transforms what you had imagined to be a brute of a building into an unexpected beauty. As you turn through these pages and begin to visit some of these buildings, I hope you will feel some of the same excitement I felt as a teenager when I began to discover the architecture of my own century after childhood years spent heaving open the doors of old parish churches and padding the corridors of crumbling country houses. If I was ill or when I was sneaking off “games”, I would lie on the floor and pore through old picture books on architecture, dreaming of what the buildings were really like and wondering who designed them. This is a rainy day book although unfamiliar architecture is generally best experienced when the sun is shining. 


				It has been fun to put together – faster than any building – and I just hope it makes you want to discover more: the architectural interpretation of history is, after all, as valid as any other. 


				Jonathan Glancey 
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				The Industrial Revolution was a brutalizing experience. For anyone with half a conscience there was something very wrong with the manner in which the wretched of the earth poured into towns and cities looking for work and with the ways they were subsequently treated. For anyone with an eye, the brutal new architecture, if it could be called that, the intrusion of railways, of steam and smoke and choking smogs was nothing but horror piled upon horror. For high-minded aesthetes there was something rotten in the way that the new machine age could mass-produce goods and architectural details and undermine the work of the skilled craftsmen whose ancestors had once given shape and breathed life into great cathedrals, market crosses and cloth halls.


				The Industrial Revolution also meant that ideas could be transported rapidly by train from county to county and country to country so that vernacular traditions were increasingly in danger of being elbowed out from their ancient homes. Artists, writers and architects began, bit by bit, to revolt against these perceived horrors and excesses. John Ruskin (1819–1900), the Brotherhood of the Pre-Raphaelites and William Morris (1834–96) were 


			


		


		

			

				key figures in the rise of what was to become the Arts and Crafts movement. It began in England and spread its gospel far and wide in the early part of the twentieth century. Its traditions took firm root in Britain and, throughout the radical investigations of the Modern Movement, to which it offered its creed of honest construction and functional plans, and the game-playing of the Postmodern era, the spirit of Ruskin and Morris continued to haunt new architecture, from schools to county halls.


				The Arts and Crafts movement was both an aesthetic and a moral crusade. It was part and parcel of a peculiarly English sentiment in which a primitive form of socialism, nostalgia for a medieval world of knights in shining armour and damsels in distress, fear of new technology, love of hand-made objects and a sense of decency and fair play combined to create a recognizable yet informal style of architecture that acted as a rustic stick with which to beat formal artistic decadence.


				At first it was more a form of escape from the industrial world than a challenge to it. Followers of Morris founded what they hoped would be idyllic rural communities of fellow craft workers and architects. A younger generation, 
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				however, such as the fine young architects of the London County Council (created in 1889) took Arts and Crafts ideals into the heart of the city and used them as a basis for improving the lot of those who delved and span for a pittance and lived in squalor. The Boundary Estate in London’s Shoreditch (p.14) remains a model of civilized urban housing inspired by Arts and Crafts principles.


				Elsewhere in Europe, Arts and Crafts ideas were blended with those of Art Nouveau (or Jugendstijl) with high art colluding with the highest standards of craftsmanship. As well as an idea and a set of ideals, the movement was also, in the hands of many architects, simply another style and one well suited for a new wave of country houses for the newly rich who wished to escape the grubby roots of their wealth by living in romantic “honest” splendour.


				The freedom that the Arts and Crafts movement offered architects ensured rich and varied buildings. What they have most in common is their free and “honest” plans and superb standards of construction. At best they are thoughtful and life-enhancing buildings; at worst, they seem gratuitous and ride headlong into the buffers of kitsch.
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				Charles Francis Annesley Voysey (1857–1941) was the tiny, bird-like son of a Yorkshire parson who was expelled from the Church of England for denying the existence of Hell. As an architect, Voysey worked tirelessly from 1882 in his own idiosyncratic idiom trying – perhaps, to create a vision of earthly paradise influenced by the socialist Arts and Crafts thinker and designer William Morris and the fiery Gothic Revivalist A. W. N. Pugin.


				Voysey’s paradise was to be as clean as a new pin: aside from furniture and wallpapers, he designed his own bright blue suits without cuffs or lapels as these gathered unacceptable dust. He lived in a house of his own design, The Orchard, the finest of a group of suburban houses on 


			


		


		

			

				the northwest fringe of London. Although The Orchard, like many Voysey designs, appears superficially to draw on a mythical Olde English past, its interior is free-flowing, and if not Modern, as has been claimed by Modern Movement apologists, it has a freedom of plan and clarity of design that made it quietly revolutionary. The house’s features are scaled down to Voysey’s own miniature scale. 


				Although The Orchard was to influence the look of England’s cosy (and cloying) suburban homes over the next 100 years, it remains at heart – and there are heart motifs to be found throughout its loving detailing – the expression of an architect who wished to create a quiet and ordered domestic heaven on earth.
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				Victor Horta (1861–1947) studied at the Académie des Beaux-Arts in Brussels, after which he began working with Alphonse Balat, a reputable Neoclassical architect. Horta, however, was much taken with the writings of Viollet-le-Duc, the French Gothic revivalist who made great play with the latest industrial materials. The result, when Horta set up on his own, was an exotic flowering of extraordinary houses that manage to combine Baroque and Classical elements with free-flowing plans, serpentine ironwork, tapestries of richly coloured glass and sensuality with common sense. Fitted out in lavish detail by the architect, Hôtel Tassel is probably the most mature of the many houses Horta designed and the one that most fully expresses the ideals of Art Nouveau. The revolutionary aspect of this house, however, lies less in its gorgeous decorated structure and more in its plan and section: these allow rooms to be reached at different 
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				levels, in some ways heralding the free use of interior space made by Modern Movement architects after World War One. Yet, what the visitor really feels here is a sense of being inside a three-dimensional illustration by Walter Crane or Aubrey Beardsley. 


				Horta went on to become a professor at the Académie des Beaux-Arts. He later abandoned curves and decorative sensation for the rigours of straight lines and plain concrete construction.
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				Under the direction of Owen Fleming, the young architects of the London County Council’s (LCC) Housing of the Working Class Branch (set up in 1893) designed this, the first and best of several major slum clearance housing projects. Fired by the theories of John Ruskin, William Morris and Karl Marx, the LCC architects created what might truly be called “palaces for the people”, bringing art into the life of the artless and downtrodden. More than 5,500 people were housed in the magnificent red and yellow brick Arts and Crafts blocks that form the Boundary Estate. These radiate from Arnold Circus in which an elevated central garden boasts a once fashionable bandstand that lends a festive air to what had long been – and remains in many ways – a grim, down-at-heel quarter of east London. 


				Many of the details are clearly derived from older masters of the Arts and Crafts movement, and it is easy to spot the guiding hands of Norman Shaw 
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				and, more particularly, of Philip Webb, who built a much-copied house for William Morris in Bexley Heath in south London in 1859. Social housing in Britain and continental Europe was rarely to rise to this noble and popular standard again. In the 1990s, the Estate was renovated. It remains a testimony to intelligent city government administration, proving that mass housing can fit elegantly and seamlessly into city centres.
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				Sir Edwin Landseer Lutyens (1869–1944) was one of the greatest architects of his generation. Described by his biographer, Christopher Hussey, as “a perfect architectural sonnet”, Deanery Garden is the best known of his early English country houses. 


				The house was radical in its use of space, yet its appearance was a clever contrivance of old English materials and formulas: timber, great windows laced with mullions and transoms and beautifully made, handsomely laid bricks. The house was built for Edward Hudson, the proprietor of Country Life magazine and Lutyens’ champion. An Edwardian countryside “bachelor pad”, it was within easy reach of London via the Great Western Railway. The garden, landscaped by Lutyens and 


			


		


		

			

				Gertrude Jekyll, is all of a piece with the house – and so too was the oak furniture and simple decor when this masterpiece was photographed for a 1903 edition of Country Life. The conceit of the house was to create an idyllic domestic setting for the quintessential Edwardian gentleman, a man of great restraint,understated elegance and with a deep attachment to a very English take on history. 


				The house has worn well over the century, demonstrating the advantage of Lutyens’ training in builders’ yards: like many of the century’s greats, he was not a qualified architect. He built with intuition and love, virtues that can be felt in the construction of this impeccable, inventive English house.
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				William Lethaby (1857–1931) is best known, perhaps, as a teacher and theorist. He was the first director of the Central School of Arts and Crafts, London, which was, in many ways, the precursor of the Bauhaus. Lethaby also designed some striking and curious buildings, attempts to bring together Arts and Crafts sensibilities with the use of modern materials. 


				The church Lethaby built in a backwater of rural Herefordshire is a fascinating attempt to marry ancient and modern technologies and styles. At first glance, All Saints’ Church appears to be truly ancient, rooted close to the ground, its muscular stone walls protected by a roof of straw. Inside, it gives up the pretence 
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				and we know we have entered not just a very English parish church, but the twentieth century. The roof is made, quite unashamedly, of concrete and its structure is determinedly like no medieval or Victorian Gothic Revival design. Idiosyncratic window details add to the sense of the strangely new and different. 


				All Saints’ Church is not simply a curiosity – and beautiful, too, in its odd way – but an expression of the tug and tussle so many British architects had, and were to have, with the possibilities and expression of new materials and technologies and with the idea of what exactly constituted the “vernacular” in building design throughout the twentieth century.
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				Massive, Romanesque in spirit, a modern castle in a city centre, the new Stock Exchange was the greatest work of Hendrik Petrus Berlage (1856–1934). The building’s great unbroken brick walls and semi-circular arches recall the work of the Dutch architect’s American contemporaries, H. H. Richardson and Frank Lloyd Wright, whose buildings he had known of but not seen until a visit to the United States in 1911. Berlage considered himself to be a highly “moral” architect, which appears to imply that the construction of a building should be clearly exposed; so much so that the rooms of the severe houses he designed, such as the Henny House, The Hague (1898), were not allowed plaster 


			


		


		

			

				over the brickwork. And, as for wallpaper … 


				Berlage was reacting against the eclectic free-style architecture of the last two decades of the nineteenth century. In doing so, he helped pave the way for a school or feel for architecture that was to have considerable influence on such later Dutch masters as Willem Marinus Dudok (p.180), who brought together a passion for crafted brickwork and rigorous, Modern elevations. 


				The Stock Exchange, situated on Amsterdam’s busy Damrak, continues to dominate this part of the city and is beautifully maintained. Its solid, if not entirely austere, exterior conceals a remodelled exhibition halls within.
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				Hill House is the largest and most ambitious of five poetic homes Charles Rennie Mackintosh (1868–1928) designed in and around Glasgow. It was commissioned by the publisher W. W. Blackie and caught the imagination of European observers even though his English contemporaries thought his designs decadent. Mackintosh’s furniture designs, shown at the Arts and Crafts Exhibition of 1896 in London were widely criticized for their poor construction and the Scot was never invited to show again. Oddly enough, having designed some of the most beautiful of all British buildings – all in Scotland – Mackintosh left Glasgow for London in 1913 and took up painting full-time instead. 


				Hill House is a modern interpretation of an old Scottish tower house, its austere walls covered, like them, in harl (roughcast), and yet inside it is all whiteness, delicacy and light. So exquisite is the wilfully artistic interior that the 
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				contemporary German writer Herman Muthesius, author of the hugely influential Das Englische Haus, 1904, thought it “refined to such a degree which the lives of even the artistically educated are still a long way from matching … Even a book in an unsuitable binding would disturb the atmosphere simply by lying on the table.” In 1982 the house was taken into the care of the National Trust for Scotland.
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				“Perhaps there is something in the Norfolk air,” wrote the historian Gavin Stamp in The English House, 1986, “which accounts for this strange architecture.” Home Place is a glorious, wilful Arts and Crafts house designed for the Reverend Percy R. Lloyd by Edward Schroeder Prior (1852–1932). 


				In essence the house consists of a central range flanked by a pair of “butterfly” wings that flap off at angles of 60 degrees. These are wildly designed with all manner of picturesque detail and, as the architect Roderick Gradidge has observed, Home Place looks “as if it is covered with a very old Fairisle pullover that has been knitted by an imbecile child. Quaintness can be carried no further.” 


			


		


		

			

				This rather eccentric product of stupendously wealthy Edwardian England became a convalescent home in the 1930s. It still is, although whether the architecture is restful is debatable. Prior designed some of the most extreme Arts and Crafts buildings in Britain, exaggerating the use of “found” and local materials. He liked, as one of his colleagues said, “to be in a minority of one”. He built for the rich, he was an Old Harrovian and a Cambridge graduate, and was pretty much able to do what he wanted. His parish church at Roker in Sunderland (1907), however, was a model of restraint and one of the finest ecclesiastical buildings of its time.
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				Post Office Savings Bank 


			


		


		

			

				[image: ]

			


			

				[image: ]

			


		


		

			

				This is Otto Wagner’s (1841–1918) most famous and brilliant building. The monumental main façade conceals an ingenious banking hall at the heart of the trapezoidal-shaped block. This features a glass floor, bringing daylight into the basement, and an extensively glazed arched roof. This in turn is protected by a glass roof at the top of the bank’s six-storey lightwell. The whiteness and brightness of this space, together with its brilliant use of glass, means that it has never seemed anything other than up to date at any moment in the twentieth century. In Wagner’s competition entry for the building, the roof of the banking hall was to have been even more radical: a canopy of glass suspended on cables held by steel masts. Such detailing might have been common in the 1980s, but was almost unheard of outside the world of structural engineering in 1904 when the building was commissioned. 


			


		


		

			

				The face the bank presents to central Vienna is no less daring: the anchorage points of the marble panels that form the main façade are not only exposed, but the chunky aluminium heads of their rivets are polished. These proudly ostentatious rivets take the place of conventional historic decoration. This highly distinctive form of construction was to be much copied by architects, notably in Japan, much later in the century.


			


		




		

			[image: ]

		


		

			[image: ]

		


		

			[image: ]

		


		

			

				Post Office Savings Bank 


			


		


		

			

				Scotland Street School
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				Not all Mackintosh’s buildings were as delicate and self-consciously “artistic” as Hill House (p.18). Scotland Street School is a substantial building that has stood the test of time. Its plan is very simple: two floors of classrooms divided by a central corridor behind massive stone walls. What is special here is the use of light. Not only are the castle-like windows vast, but daylight also floods into the school through the twin entrance and stair towers. The building points to a style of civic and commercial architecture that could well have been developed into a convincing alternative to the slipshod architecture that, under the misleading banner “Modern”, was to pockmark so many British city centres in the course of the century. 


				Mackintosh was, in his lifetime, much more appreciated in Europe. He exhibited designs for furniture and buildings at Munich in 1898 and the annual exhibition of the Secession in Vienna in 1900. Mackintosh’s 


			


		


		

			

				design for an “Art Lover’s House” was entered in a 1901 competition organized by the German magazine Zeitschrift für Innerndekoration. It was built, strangely enlarged as if the designs had been placed under a magnifying glass, in Glasgow in the 1990s. Mackintosh lived out his last years painting sublime watercolours of the landscape at Port-Vendres in the south of France, a long way in every sense from the rigours of Scotland Street School and Glasgow.
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				The first garden suburb, Hampstead embodied the Garden City concept devised by the planner Ebeneezer Howard in the 1890s and put into practice by Raymond Unwin (1863–1940) at Letchworth (p.426). 


				Unwin was a Fabian socialist, meaning he looked to change society through steady reform rather than radical upheavals. Where and how people lived played a key part in this school of socialist thinking, much of which was rooted in the work of William Morris. The Arts and Crafts influence showed clearly not just in the architecture of Hampstead Garden Suburb but in the way of life it was designed to engender: arty-crafty. The suburb was designed around a central square, influenced by Lutyens who 


			


		


		

			

				designed the three highly distinctive buildings that define the spirit of this leafy city annexe: St Jude’s Church with its massive roofs and striking spire; the Free Church – an essay in Lutyens’s “Wrenaissance” Baroque; and the Institute, the focal point of life in the suburb. Around the square Lutyens and others filled in Unwin’s plan with large Queen Anne and Neo-Georgian houses. Beyond this grand statement of intent, Unwin’s plan unrolls in a sequence of avenues, never less than 12 metres (40 ft) wide, that roll with the contours of the land and are lined with smaller Neo-Georgian and Voysey-inspired houses. Over a century later, the suburb still feels remote from the rest of the world; but perhaps that was the idea.


			


		


		

			

				Hampstead Garden Suburb
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				Tempere Cathedral
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				This apparently rough-hewn romantic pile represented a significant moment in the history of Finnish architecture. It was at once an expression of the National Romantic movement in Finnish art and culture and at the same time a reaching out from what might have become a culturally isolated era to the world for inspiration. National Romanticism was a reaction, to a large extent, to Finland’s fear of being swallowed by Russian imperialism in the late nineteenth century. Artists, musicians and architects sought inspiration in the Karelian heartland of old Finland and a spate of new wooden churches and houses were built in a Karelian revivalist style. Tempere Cathedral sprang from this movement and yet Lars Sonck (1870–1956) was also clearly influenced by the Neo-Romanesque designs of the Chicago architect H. H. Richardson. The same influence can be seen at work in Sonck’s 


			


		


		

			

				Telephone Company building in Helsinki (1905), although he was also clearly influenced by the English Arts and Crafts movement; this shows in his Eira hospital in Helsinki (1905). 


				At the time of the building of Tempere Cathedral, Sonck was generally considered to be Finland’s leading architect. Like many buildings that were influenced by Arts and Crafts thinking, a busy, picturesque exterior conceals a rational plan.
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				St Leopold’s Church
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				Stripped, in the mind’s eye, of its pregnant dome and exquisite and haunting decoration – grave, beautiful angels and laurel wreaths outside; gold-leaf, mosaics and byzantine panels inside – the church of St Leopold could be an early twentieth-century railway station or exhibition pavilion. This might be an odd way of looking at one of the most memorable of modern churches, yet Wagner’s design is fundamentally a secular building with just enough symbolic detail to give it a sacred air. The earliest Christian churches were developed from Roman basilicas and this handsome church is, perhaps, an update of this ancient theme. That it should have a secular character is not surprising. 


				From 1894, Wagner was Vienna’s City Planner. He had already been commissioned to redevelop the heart of the Austrian Empire and was soon busy with the design not just of grand civic buildings, but also with that of Vienna’s Stadtbahn 


			


		


		

			

				– by 1901 he had supervised the design of 31 stations as well as bridges and viaducts – and the re-routing of the River Danube. Wagner had started designing in a grand Classical manner, but became increasingly radical in his approach. He joined the Vienna Secession group of artists in 1899. His later buildings are characterized by the clarity of their plan and organization and by the gorgeousness of their decoration. The church at Steinhof is no exception.
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				St Leopold’s Church


			


		


		

			

				Glasgow School of Art 


			


		


		

			

				[image: ]

			


			

				[image: ]

			


		


		

			

				This is a building in two parts, both by Mackintosh. The first wing was built between 1897 and 1899. It is the western extension of 1907–9 which brings those who love architecture to Glasgow School of Art. The library wing soars from a steep hillside site, its sheer cliff-like walls interrupted on the west front by windows rising in three dramatic tiers. The trio lighting the library are 8 metres (25 ft) tall. The library is a glorious space, its galleries and ceiling supported by a grid of horizontal beams and rectangular pillars that, seen from certain angles, criss-cross in delightfully complex ways. Glasgow School of Art is Mackintosh’s masterpiece. It demonstrates how references to history – there are Scottish castles and hill-houses in the mix – can be translated into a modern architecture that takes on a powerful life of its own. Mackintosh, an original talent, did not know how to copy, nor did he need to.
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				Palais Stoclet
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				Like some lavish ocean liner berthed far from its home port, Palais Stoclet is a Viennese house built in Brussels. The client was Adolphe Stoclet, a banker, and the architect Josef Hoffmann (1870–1956). This late-flowering Art Nouveau jewel comes as a surprise still, its white marble walls edged with bronze long since turned vivid green, in striking contrast to the subdued palette of Brussels. Owing something to Mackintosh and lavishly decorated throughout by, among other artists, Gustav Klimt, Adolphe Stoclet’s palace is almost too exquisite to bear. 


				Hoffmann studied under Otto Wagner (p.20) in Vienna where he was one of the founders, in 1897, of the Secession group of artists. Six years later he founded the Wiener Werkstätte (Vienna Workshop), for which he designed much furniture. His interests in art, design andarchitecture were brought together as a kind of tour de force in the Palais Stoclet. Because of its informal plan and 


			


		


		

			

				pristine whiteness, the house has often been described as being “based on Modern theories”; in fact, rather than looking to the future, it marked the end of an era. Although the European bourgeoisie would continue to demand lavish homes in the 1920s and 1930s, the avant-garde turned to a more rigorous and less overtly opulent style. That was the Modern Movement: Palais Stoclet was fin de siècle Vienna in prewar Brussels.
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				Palais Stoclet


			


		


		

			

				Frank Lloyd Wright (1869–1959) was a prolific and inspired architect who, perhaps more than anyone else, introduced the idea of the open-plan house. Away with conventional rooms; in with wide open interior spaces, one linking naturally with the rest. The result, especially in the luxurious houses Wright built in California, are homes that refuse to age and are considerably more modern than anything offered for sale by conventional house builders. The Storer House also employed exposed concrete construction, although Wright’s use of concrete blocks here is highly decorative 


			


		


		

			

				and designed to give the building a Mexican flavour. Wright was never slave to one material or style: he was eclectic in terms of form, yet his buildings tended to be inspired by and closely rooted to their surroundings: no matter how inventive, they seem to belong. Wright was one of the century’s most influential architects and his concerns – to do with closeness to Nature, the passage of the sun, openness and a sense of freedom – are very much the concerns of many architects as they navigate the twenty-first century after the wilful Postmodernism and the wacky free-form design of the late 1990s.
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				This wonderfully idiosyncratic housing block is known locally as “Het Scheep” (The Ship) for the shape of its plan, the prow of which ploughs into the Zanstraat district of Amsterdam and the stern of which is marked by a tall tower or mast. Commissioned by the Eigen Haard (“Own Stove”) company, Michel de Klerk (1884–1923) conjured a courtyard block from an apparently random collage of brick elements – towers, turrets, gables – each highly pronounced and demonstrating the art of peerless Dutch brickwork. Although personal in style, the decoration – which follows the principle of Pugin, father of the English Gothic Revival and a major influence on Arts and Crafts 


				architects – is never gratuitous; instead it enlivens the bold structure of this building. 


				De Klerk was a leading light of the Amsterdam School, a group of Expressionists whose work occupied an opposite pole to that of the De Stijl movement, with its belief in formal geometry and universal solutions. The “Eigen Haard” housing was beautifully built and, with its steep, tiled roofs and projecting eaves and gables, well proofed against wind and rain. Eigen Haard continues to surprise those who imagine all twentieth-century Dutch architecture to be austere and “rational”. It is as pragmatic as it is romantic: a ship worth sailing on.


			


		


		

			

				Eigen Haard Housin
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				Stockholm City Hall
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				A beautiful building on a beautiful site, Stockholm City Hall shows how a skilled twentieth-century architect could raid history without getting confused on the way back to the drawing board or resorting to pastiche or kitsch. Here, Ragnar östberg (1866–1945) has added to the romantic, nautical skyline of Stockholm, introducing a new family of copper-capped towers, spires and cupolas. What is intriguing here is the seamless way that östberg brings together a diversity of styles – medieval, Classical and a current National Romanticism – and makes them sit seamlessly and happily together. 


				The design, which dates from a competition of 1903–4, was to prove widely influential not just in Sweden, but also in Holland, Britain and the United States. östberg’s tower and use of brick can be seen reworked in buildings as diverse as Art Deco factories and metro stations. As an essay in 


			


		


		

			

				how to learn from history, it merits an A grade. Perhaps because so many architects proved to be unable to reinterpret history convincingly to serve their own times, a clean Modern break seemed, increasingly, to be the logical option. The plan of Stockholm City Hall, behind its highly crafted and thick skin of brick and stone, is essentially Classical in form, order and spirit. Yet, there is no contradiction here: the design feels seamless.
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				A courageous example of socialist housing, Karl Marx Hof is one of the architectural sights of Vienna. Its powerful Expressionist entrance towers are rendered red and suggest the appearance of heroic industrial workers marching, muscular arms linked, through the city centre. This giant estate was designed under the guiding hand of Karl Ehn (1884–1957), the City Architect who, born in Vienna, had trained under Otto Wagner. The Karl Marx Hof was one of a series of large estates designed for the city by Ehn. He was highly influenced by the work of the socialist architects at the London County Council (LCC) who, at the turn of the century, had produced some of the most urbane and humane slum-replacement housing yet seen.


				The ideas of the LCC architects were disseminated across Europe. The principal difference between the London and Vienna estates is the sheer sculptural power of the latter. Where the LCC estates were rooted in the ideals and aesthetics of the Arts and Crafts movement, Ehn’s blocks, in purely aesthetic terms, owed much to Expressionist ideas. Although some of the flats are rather dim and pokey, they remain a remarkable example of the way in which mass housing can have a formal beauty of its own. Standing in landscaped gardens, the Karl Marx Hof has been remarkably well maintained.


				From 1934 onwards Ehn received little work as Austria moved towards unity with Nazi Germany.


			


		


		

			

				Karl Marx Hof
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				gruntvig church
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				The church pushes brick technology – if not to its limits, then somewhere near them. The Expressionist quality of the building lies in its attempt to represent the notion, sound and force of ecclesiastical music in its outward appearance. The result – a church in the guise of a musical instrument – is unique, memorable and ultimately rather daunting. Jensen-Klint did not live to see his church in all its glory: it was completed by his son 10 years after his death.


			


		


		

			

				Designed in the guise of a gigantic organ, Gruntvig Church is a phenomenal work, an unlikely brick masterpiece that can be called neither beautiful nor ugly. Instead, the church has a fairy-tale quality and might illustrate the tales of the Brothers Grimm. The vast brick structure stands at the end of a street of Arts and Crafts almshouses in a Copenhagen suburb; here the world is a quiet place, save for music pealing from the church that Peter Vilhelm Jensen-Klint (1853–1930) built.


				Jensen trained as an engineer, before becoming a painter and architect in his mid-forties. Construction of Gruntvig Church began in 1913, and took 27 years and a number of fits and stops to complete. In the design of the church, Jensen married a number of his enthusiasms, which at that time were brick architecture of northern Europe, German Expressionism and an exploration of the structural possibilities and limits of brick construction. 
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				Classical architecture is the cradle of Western culture. Other cultures talk of classical traditions too, yet Classicism is a style or approach to architecture most closely associated with ancient Greece and Rome. The greatest of the Greek temples was the Parthenon, which has never been bettered and which has inspired architects for the last 2,500 years. In the twentieth century it was an inspiration for the most radical Modern Movement architects – notably Le Corbusier – as well as those who sought either to look at Classicism anew (Gunnar Asplund, Charles Holden) or else to reproduce the Classical architecture of previous centuries in one form or another (Albert Speer, Ricardo Bofill), but always harking back through the Renaissance and Rome to Greece and the Parthenon.


				The Classical architecture of the last hundred years has been rich and varied and has proved, in the right hands, to have adapted well to modern needs. Peter Behren’s AEG factory in Berlin (p.34) is a Classical temple as factory; Pennsylvania Station in New York (p.36) is the Baths of Caracalla transformed into a railroad terminus; Les Arcades-du-lac in Paris (p.62) by Ricardo Bofill’s Taller de Arquitectura takes the elements of Classical architecture, and transforms them through factory mass-production methods and concrete into mass 


			


		


		

			

				suburban housing.


				At its very best, the Classical tradition has been explored and reinvented by architects of the calibre of Edwin Lutyens and Gunnar Asplund, who have shown how the design language of Greece and Rome is far from dead. At its worst, Classical architecture has been used as a sop to the conceits of stuffed shirts – mostly newly rich business people – who think that a veneer of Classical details on a brick box is their passport to high society and culture. Or, as in the case of Albert Speer and Nazi Germany, it has been employed as a very obvious symbol of political and social order. In Nazi Germany, architecture obeyed the orders of Classicism as the German volk obeyed those of its dictatorial government.


				It was often argued by proponents of Modernism and by libertarians of various aesthetic persuasions that Classicism was inherently anti-democratic. This was clearly untrue: Classicism was as much the language of Hitler’s Germany and Mussolini’s Italy as it was of Roosevelt’s United States, the London Passenger Transport Board (p. 46) and the city of Stockholm (p. 45). Perhaps it was the trappings of Classical architecture that upset so many of those who adopted a moral view of architecture in the twentieth century. Not only did columns and pediments 
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				seem irrelevant to life in an industrial society, but the “dishonesty” of Classical façades, which hide the workings of a given building and do little to express its workaday purpose, seemed somehow wrong.


				The Nazis certainly gave Classicism a bad name, but so did those who, most embarrassingly in Britain, sought to revive the outward form of Classical architecture in the 1980s as a reaction to the perceived excesses of Modernism. The results were pitiful and made a mockery of the attempts by an earlier generation of architects who had attempted to revive the spirit of Greece and Rome and not simply their most obvious forms. Classicism may have fallen into many of the wrong hands in the course of the last century, yet the Stockholm City Library stands as a testament to what it could be in the right hands.
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				Peter Behrens (1868–1940) has a special place in the history of twentieth-century architecture and design. Not only did he design the first modern factory – seen here – and train such future talents as Le Corbusier, Walter Gropius and Ludwig Mies van der Rohe, but he was perhaps the first designer to give a major, modern industrial company – AEG, the German General Electric Company – a convincing corporate image. 


				Behrens began his career as a painter before turning to architecture and industrial design. From 1907 he worked for AEG, turning his hand and eye to the appearance of cookers, radiators, and lamps as well as the company’s packaging, catalogues, posters, letterheads, showrooms and shops. 


			


		


		

			

				AEG Turbine Factory
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				In 1909 he completed his first factory for AEG. It was and remains a masterpiece, a temple to modern industrial technology and production. The temple-like appearance of the turbine hall, however, is a cleverly realized and subtly expressed illusion. What looks at first to be rusticated stonework is, in fact, lightweight concrete serving to fill the gaps in the lightweight steel frame behind. The slim joints in the four corner pylons and the fine metal framing of what passes for a Greek tympanum are highlighted in a way that expresses their artificiality. The Turbine Factory was a brilliant attempt to reconcile Classical culture and history with the new reality of industrial commerce and production.
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				The sun was still shining over the British Empire when Aston Webb (1849–1930), the most successful and prolific British architect of the time, was commissioned to reface Buckingham Palace in a chaste Classical manner, to readdress The Mall, the one truly grand avenue in London, and to design Admiralty Arch as a gateway to the processional avenue and palace. Admiralty Arch is a handsome enough gateway, yet engagingly English in the way that in any other country it would be a grandiose monument. 


				Admiralty Arch was originally crowded with offices for use by the Royal Navy, which at the time was the 


			


		


		

			

				world’s most powerful. In 1997, the Navy offered to convert these into temporary accommodation for the many thousands of young people who sleep in the streets of London. Webb was the right man for the original job because he never seemed to mind artistic compromise: he simply built what his clients wanted. And yet, as Admiralty Arch proves, it is perfectly possible to add to the experience of walking through a city while designing what in formal terms is a flawed work of art. Much derided in the past, Admiralty Arch has become a much liked gateway to a vision of Britain that is now more real in tourists’ brochures than in the minds of its people. 


			


		


		

			

				Admiralty Arch
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				First there were the imperial baths of Ancient Rome. Then there were the railways. And then Paxton’s Crystal Palace (London, 1851), Baltard and Hallet’s Central Market Hall (Paris, 1866) and Dutert’s Hall of Machines (Exposition Universelle, Paris, 1889). Put these together and the result was Pennsylvania Station, New York, perhaps the most majestic, romantic and thrilling of all railway stations. And, like the famous Euston Arch in London, wilfully demolished. Today a shabby hole-in-the-ground serves as the entrance to the terminus. What McKim, Meade & White had built was a palace of iron, steel and glass that matched the ambition and scale of US railroading at its zenith in the first four decades of the 


			


		


		

			

				Pennsylvania Station
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				twentieth century. 


				McKim Meade & White was one of the best architectural practices of its time, its work ranging from superb country houses in the Shingle Style to grand civic monuments like Pennsylvania Station, Columbia University (1902) and the Brooklyn Museum (1915). The skills of the three architects coaslesced perfectly. Charles McKim (1847–1909) was gifted at monumental design; Stanford White (1853–1906) was decorative and painterly in style; William Rutherford Meade (1846–1928) made it all possible. Drawing its formal langauage from the great baths of Caracalla, Pennsylvania Station was a fitting temple to the mighty age of North American steam power.
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				Government Offices
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				thoroughly well built, are more Palladian in spirit than Baroque. The only real evidence of Baroque design is in the decorative detail such as the twin towers, clearly inspired by Wren, that mark the entrance to the central courtyard. The building has none of the grace of Wren, the dark intelligence of Hawksmoor or the theatricality of Vanbrugh. British Classicism had a long way, however, to descend from this decent and gentlemanly effort.


			


		


		

			

				This was the look of the British Empire as it went to war in 1914: pompous, stuffy, civil, correct, yet somehow deeply unsure of itself. These grandiloquent, yet handsome, government offices were the work of John Brydon (1840–1901), a Scot who believed that the one true style was the English Baroque of Christopher Wren, John Vanbrugh and Nicholas Hawksmoor. This style, he said in a talk at the Architectural Association, London, in 1889, was “in some respects superior to even the Italian Renaissance”. 


				The revived Baroque style lasted well into the 1920s even though nominally superseded by the Beaux-Arts French Classicism of architects like Reginald Blomfield, who rebuilt John Nash’s Regent Street, and the very talented Mewes and Davis, best known for the delicious Palm Court in London’s Ritz Hotel. As for Brydon in Parliament Square, his government offices, although neatly composed and 
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				Grand Central Station
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				The famous concourse of Grand Central Station is one of the greatest meeting places in the world. Not only is it lofty and ennobling, but it works supremely well. In a celebrated judgement in 1978, the US Supreme Court declared this greatest of all railway stations a historic landmark and thus saved it from the fate of Penn Station (p.36). The station was planned from 1902 after a serious accident in the old station caused by trapped smoke from steam locomotives. In future all trains in and out of Grand Central were to be electric. Because these could run safely underground, the platforms of the new station were dug under the streets and on two superimposed levels. Altogether there were more than 100 platforms. 


				The engineering work was by Colonel William John Wilgus (1865–1949). The architecture was initially by the Minnesota railroad specialists Reed & Stern, but the Beaux Arts-


			


		


		

			

				trained Warren and Wetmore took over in 1911 and transformed the building into a twentieth-century Roman basilica. The spectacular main concourse measures 36.5 metres (120 ft) by 125.5 metres (375 ft) by 38 metres (125 ft) high. Light pours in from decorated lunettes on high and the eyes of passengers not in too much of a rush are drawn up to Paul Hellau’s flamboyant ceiling painting depicting the heavens. 


			


		


		

			[image: ]

		




		

			[image: ]

		


		

			[image: ]

		


		

			

				Union Buildings
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				After the Boer Wars, South Africa was united under British hegemony. A parliamentary building followed, although it was some time before it arrived, in Pretoria. It was the design of Herbert Baker (1868–1942), an English architect who had come to Cape Town in 1903. Baker had been trained in the Arts and Crafts tradition, but once in the Cape he fell in love with Cape Dutch colonial architecture. When Cecil Rhodes appointed him to design the Union Buildings in 1909, he had arrived at a style that fused Cape Dutch, English Arts and Crafts, and the Baroque style of Wren and Hawksmoor. 


				Baker sited the Union Buildings in a steep hillside above Pretoria, a great garden tumbling down in terraces from the parliamentary complex to the city below. This elegant building comprises two stone-faced blocks capped with Wren-like domed towers, punctuated by courtyards, linked together by a Baroque arcade. Some 


			


		


		

			

				commentators have found the central arcade a weakness in Baker’s design. Yet Baker’s elegant reticence speaks of a quietly confident system of government. The fact that South Africa had to wait 80 years for anything like a decent system of government is another story. Baker worked and fell out with Lutyens (p. 47) in India before returning to England. Among other things, he designed South Africa House in Trafalgar Square.
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				King Edward VII Galleries
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				John Burnet (1857–1938) was a Glaswegian who, after a training at the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris, designed many civic and commercial buildings in heroic styles – Greek, Egyptian, Chicago – in London over a period of nearly thirty years. If his most advanced was the Chicago-influenced Kodak Building in Kingsway (with Thomas Tait, 1911), his grandest is the extension he designed at the back of Robert Smirke’s Neo-Greek British Museum. Burnet’s long building is a steel frame cloaked with a great screen of Ionic columns, separated by two tiers of decidely modern commercial steel-framed windows. This long facade is interrupted just once with a small entrance, leading to a grand stair, guarded by a pair of imperious granite lions. Burnet’s elevation, although Grecian, is very different in spirit from Smirke’s entrance block, designed in the 1820s. Where Smirke aimed to 


			


		


		

			

				be archaeologically correct, Burnet’s essay in modern Greek owes much to his Beaux-Arts training and would be at home in Washington or Paris. As it is, this was the architecture that saw Britain enter the blood and carnage of the Great War. 


				Burnet’s later work includes Adelaide House (1925), the Neo-Egyptian pile flanking the north-east approach to London Bridge and the Classical sweep of Unilever House (1932), overlooking Blackfriars Bridge.
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				Gunnar Asplund (1885–1940) was one of the century’s greats. At once Modern and as ancient as the temples of Greece, his buildings approached the elusive goal of timelessness more closely, perhaps, than those of any other twentieth-century architect. Without exception, his buildings are based on clear, symmetrical and deeply satisfying plans that have an elemental appeal. 


				The plan of the County Court in Solvesborg is that of a circle embedded in a rectangle. The circle is the court room, the focus of this romantic building. Asplund’s hand is in evidence throughout the courthouse and includes most of the furniture and the handsome long-case 


			


		


		

			

				clock that still marks the hours in this remarkably humane seat of justice. From the outside this civic building is in the guise of a traditional Swedish farmhouse; inside it is light, warm and logical. Its sense of authority is simple, yet assured. 


				At the time of its construction, Sweden was still a predominantly rural country with a population of barely five million. The change in scale and ambition of Asplund’s later work reflects the suddenness with which Sweden entered the industrial world. His lively and influential Modern design for the Stockholm Exhibition of 1930 was a clear pointer in the direction Swedish design and architecture would follow as the twentieth century progressed.
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				If anyone could keep alive the Classical tradition in the twentieth century in its original dress, it was Lutyens. Just look at this branch of the Midland Bank next door to Christopher Wren’s church of St James’s, Piccadilly. A refugee from Hampton Court Palace, perhaps, it is a delightful, freestanding brick and dressed-stone garden pavilion writ large, punctuated by grand windows, entered by seemingly overscaled portals and capped with a handsome pitched roof. The quality of the brickwork is superb and the whole building simply feels good. 


				Lutyens knew instinctively that the Classical canon of architecture existed to be plundered and reinterpreted as well as 
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				respected, and because he knew this he was able to show that Classicism was far from dead in the age of the burgeoning Modern Movement. Perhaps because he refused to act seriously in public – architects tend to be very serious folk – Lutyens was all too readily dismissed by mid-twentieth century historians. Tackling a dreary plate of fish while seated next to King George V at a banquet, Lutyens leant over and said “This is the piece of Cod that passeth all understanding”. At the opening of the Viceroy’s House in New Delhi, he was introduced to a clergyman named Western. “Any relation to the Great Western?” asked Lutyens. Silly jokes, wonderful architect, even when put to designing a small city bank.
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				Massive, Romanesque in spirit, a modern castle in a city centre, the new Stock Exchange was the greatest work of Hendrik Petrus Berlage (1856–1934). The building’s great unbroken brick walls and semi-circular arches recall the work of the Dutch architect’s American contemporaries, H. H. Richardson and Frank Lloyd Wright, whose buildings he had known of but not seen until a visit to the United States in 1911. Berlage considered himself to be a highly “moral” architect, which appears to imply that the construction of a building should be clearly exposed; so much so that the rooms of the severe houses he designed, such as the Henny House, The Hague (1898), were not allowed plaster over the brickwork. And, as for 


			


		


		

			

				wallpaper … 


				Berlage was reacting against the eclectic free-style architecture of the last two decades of the nineteenth century. In doing so, he helped pave the way for a school or feel for architecture that was to have considerable influence on such later Dutch masters as Willem Marinus Dudok (p.180), who brought together a passion for crafted brickwork and rigorous, Modern elevations. 


				The Stock Exchange, situated on Amsterdam’s busy Damrak, continues to dominate this part of the city and has been beautifully maintained. Its solid, if not entirely austere, exterior conceals a procession of remodelled exhibition halls within.


			


		


		

			

				Lincoln Memorial
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				This grand twentieth-century Roman basilica is one of London’s most famous and grandest retail department stores. It was founded by Gordon Selfridge, a US retailer who had worked for Marshall Field, the famous Chicago department store, before he exported the same idea to London under his own name in 1908. Selfridges was revolutionary in several ways: so much so, that the London building regulations that had kept architecture within certain bounds and bonds for decades were changed to allow the store to rise on the site of what had been blocks of Georgian houses along the north side of Oxford Street. 


				It was one of the first, and certainly the largest, steel-framed building in Britain. It 


			


		


		

			

				Selfridges
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				boasted a dramatic open-plan interior, quite unlike anything seen in Britain before. It was as much a palace of pleasure as it was a shop: there were smoking rooms and places to eat and drink. There were no floorwalkers to begin with: shoppers were encouraged to explore the galaxy of goods on display in their own time and under their own steam.


				Although radical in plan and purpose, the store’s steel frame was dressed in a grandiloquent Roman toga. The giant Classical order and decoration were the work of Francis Swales, although the plan, structure and overall concept were the work of Daniel Burnham (p. 358), who designed Marshall Field. A great central tower was never realized. 
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				stockholm City Library
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				This is one of the great buildings of the twentieth century. It cannot be called timeless, because no building can be, yet it gets close. It combines the essential elements of Classical architecture, Platonic in their archetypal purity – the cylinder, the cube, the square – bringing them together in a grand, sensual, profound manner. So much depends here on the richness of materials used throughout the building. This, and the quality of light that enters the superior drum and falls in studied shafts across desks and down stairs and corridors. The Library has a terrific sense of being hand-crafted and yet the enveloping architecture is severe. Asplund was only 43 when the Library opened and his most brilliant work was yet to come as he worked towards finding a resolution between the aesthetic and functional demands of twentieth-century architecture and the guiding spirit of Classicsm, reaching back 3,000 years.
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				55 Broadway
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				Charles Holden (1875–1960) was a Quaker who twice refused a knighthood and, although much underrated, was one of Britain’s finest architects. He began his career designing in an Arts and Crafts idiom, but this changed when he began to work closely with Frank Pick (1878–1941), the brilliant chief executive of the London Underground in the 1920s. For Pick’s new headquarters near Westminster Abbey, Holden designed this unusual steel-framed, stone-clad office. The design is cruciform, so that every office is bathed in sunlight. These offices are raised above the booking hall and platforms of St James’s Park station and crowned with a classical tower. 


				Stepped back from street level, 55 Broadway has a highly distinct profile, and yet this friendly giant, occupying an entire city block, is almost invisible until you get close to it. Its stone 


			


		


		

			

				flanks have sculptures, representing the spirits of the winds, carved by such well-known sculptors as Henry Moore, Jacob Epstein and Eric Gill. These were deeply controversial at the time as architects debated whether buildings should be vehicles for Art and, equally, whether they should be considered artworks in their unadorned state. Holden went on to design a sequence of superb stations for London Underground and the Senate House tower for London University.
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				Before India gained its independence in 1947, British architectural styles were imposed on the country. Until the 1870s, the style of British Indian buildings reflected British fads and fashions. During the Victorian “Battle of the Styles”, Bombay became home to Gothic and Calcutta to the Classical. There was a move from the 1870s to mix indigenous and British styles, leading to a picturesque “Indo-Saracenic” style for official buildings. Although quaint, few architects were able to fuse the disparate Indian and European styles. The most successful attempt came late in the day as the sun was setting over the British Empire. It came in the form of Lutyens’s imperious and utterly convincing Viceroy’s House (now the Rashtrapati Bhavan), the jewel in the crown that is New Delhi. 


			


		


		

			

				Even Le Corbusier was impressed. The success of this great domed palace, built in beautiful red, ochre and sandy stone lies, in its successful marriage between English Classicism – Lutyens’s “Wrenaisance” Baroque under dazzling light – and Indian detailing. It also lies in its almost impossibly grand setting at the end of one of the heroic tree-lined avenues Lutyens and his rival Sir Herbert Baker (p. 39) laid out in their creation of New Delhi between 1912 and 1931. 


				The marble-lined corridors of the Viceroy’s residence are wonderfully cool in the Delhi heat; there is at least one room with cornices but no ceiling (to allow the heat out and the stars in) and a garden that oozes oriental fantasy. The building has always been faultlessly maintained.


			


		


		

			

				Viceroy’s House
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				Arnos Grove Tube Station
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				This exquisite building brings together the needs of a modern railway station, the Classical architecture of ancient Rome, the modern architecture of Holland and northern Germany, gentlemanly English restraint and bricky British craftsmanship. A heavily corniced brick and glass drum atop a symmetrical glass and brick base, it is a delight to look at and to use. Most of all it is a credit to the vision of Frank Pick (1878–1941), the chief executive of the London Passenger Transport Board, who wanted London to have the world’s finest integrated urban public transport system; because of his efforts, for many years it did. Pick teamed up with Holden in 1923. Holden had recently designed some memorable war memorials for the Imperial War Graves Commission (he had served as a Lieutenant in the Royal Engineers during the First World War) and something of their design rubbed off in the first sequence of stations Holden designed from 1925 for London Undeground’s Northern 


			


		


		

			

				Line. Arnos Grove was the finest of the stations built for the Piccadilly Line in the early 1930s. Before its design, Pick and Holden made a tour of the latest Dutch and German architecture; they were particularly impressed by the work of Dudok (p.183) and his influence was clearly at work on Holden, though Arnos Grove station also echoes the design of Asplund’s Stockholm City Library (p. 45).
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				Nearly 70 years on from its foundation, the Fascist new town of Sabaudia retains its powerful and, given the Roman climate, chilling aspect. An exercise in Rational architecture and urban planning, it is like a De Chirico painting come to life. And yet it is a compelling place, a small town on the Pontine marshes that has a scale and dignity very different from the New Town experience in Britain, where suburban values tend to hold sway. 


				Sabaudia was one of four new towns commissioned by Mussolini’s government on the infamous, mosquito-infested Pontine marshes. By draining the marshes, Mussolini eradicated malaria. The design of the town was a conscious reaction to the “vernacular” style adopted elsewhere in the Roman new 


			


		


		

			

				towns. Piccinato (1899–1983) and his colleagues had shown what they intended to do here and elsewhere at the First Exhibition of Rational Architecture held in Rome in 1928. Clear lines, no decoration, a monumental sensibility. The architecture, especially the church at the centre of Sabaudia, is funereal and silent, yet to watch crisp shadows fall across its severe facade and to see the shadow of its tower etched into the piazza below is to be aware of architecture of a high and disciplined order. 


				The town’s formal rigour is softened by the park that opens up to the Lago di Paola at the southern end of its centre. It was an important achievement and was to inform the work of a later generation of Italian Rationalists centred around Aldo Rossi (p. 320).


			


		


		

			

				Sabaudia New town
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				The stirring backdrop for Leni Riefenstahl’s powerful Olympiad documentaries, this imposing stadium is a building that reminds us how effective architecture can be as a symbol of political willpower. Architecture has been used as a political tool most effectively by Adolf Hitler’s regime. When the Führer saw the first design for the 120,000-seat Olympic Stadium, he was critical of March’s (1894-1976) use of exposed steel. March wanted to create a Modern monument: Hitler wanted to recreate the glories of ancient Rome. The upshot was that Hitler’s favourite architect, Albert Speer (p. 53) intervened. Speer had the structure clad in heroic masonry – granite and limestone – and ringed around 


			


		


		

			

				Olympic Stadium 
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				with a grand colonnade. The entrance is breathtaking, for although the stadium seems quite big enough from the outside, its perceived height gives no inkling of what is to come. The running track and playing field are set low down, well below the line of the structure as seen from the seemingly interminable avenue that leads visitors here. 


				Scale aside, this is a remarkably civilized sports building: a ring of restaurants, restrooms and changing rooms is broken only to offer visionary views of the sports fields behind it. The stadium is still very much in use and will no doubt last a thousand years, unlike Hitler’s regime which missed this target by 988 years.
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				The old joke about this monumental hotel is that when Alexei Shchusev (1873–1949) presented Stalin with the plans, he showed him two designs on the same sheet of paper. Stalin nodded, signed the document and that was that: the hotel had to be two designs in one. No one was going to argue with Comrade Stalin’s signature. In fact, the Hotel Moskva, one of the first undiluted “Stalinist” designs, looks as if it might contain many more than two buildings. What really happened, and why the building is such a Borzoi’s breakfast, is that Shchusev, a distinguished architect who proved able to design in any number of styles, was brought in to tart up a very Modern design by the young architects Savalev and Stapran, who 


			


		


		

			

				appeared to be unaware of the fact that revolutionary Constructivist buildings were no longer acceptable in the Soviet Union. 


				Shchusev smothered the 17-storey design in lashings of granite, marble, bronze and monumental details. It looked hideous but fitted the bill and was to be the benchmark for the often pretentious buildings of the Stalin era. The courtyard building is elephantine and was not finally completed until the 1970s when, after a brief “liberal” fling under Nikita Khruschev, the USSR was eeking out its dotage under the ponderous rule of Leonid Brezhnev. The rooms were handsomely appointed and the showy top-floor restaurant was, for many years, the best the comrades had to offer.


			


		


		

			

				Hotel Moskva


			


		


		

			

				[image: ]

			


			

				[image: ]

			


		


		

			[image: ]

		


		

			[image: ]

		




		

			[image: ]

		


		

			

				The Moscow Metro opened in 1935 and from then on its tentacles spread inexorably across the Russian capital. By 2000, there were ten lines with nearly 150 stations. 


				The older stations are really extraordinary, lavishly decked out in the richest materials in the guise of palatial Baroque grottoes or underground cathedrals. There were essentially two types: the blisteringly Baroque and the balletic. Metro Mayakovskaya falls into the second category and is one of the most convincing of the early stations. It was designed by Aleksei Dushkin (1904–77), a talented designer and party favourite who won the coveted Stalin Prize three times and managed never to fall out of official favour. The underground concourse of the station is 


			


		


		

			

				Metro Mayakovskaya
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				covered with 36 oval cupolas lit by bronze torches and decorated with Soviet stars and hammers and sickles. The cupolas are supported by an impressively turned-out regiment of arches of light and dark marble inset with stainless steel reveals. The platforms are vaulted and lit with Neo-classical lamps. A model of the station was exhibited at the 1938 New York World Fair and won the Grand Prix. Its finest hour came, however, in November 1941 when the German “panzers” of General Guderian were at the gates of Moscow and the city had been partially evacuated. In this glittering concourse deep under the city, Stalin addressed the entire Politburo and effectively began the fight back for Moscow.
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				Had it been built, the Grosse Halle would have been nearly 300 metres (1,000 ft) tall, seated 180,000 of the Nazi party faithful, and would have been so voluminous that, packed to the gunwhales with a capacity audience, clouds would have formed inside and rain may even have fallen: a suitably Wagnerian environment for the rantings of the Führer. The Grosse Halle was intended to have stood on the site of the Reichstag, which was badly damaged by fire in 1933 and rebuilt by Sir Norman Foster (p. 299). It marked the top end of the proposed north–south processional avenue that, lined with Nazi palaces, offices, hotels and cinemas, would have led to a new south Berlin railway terminus and to Tempelhof airport, one of the few surviving buildings of the Nazi era, built by Ernst Sagebiel, 1941. 


			


		


		

			

				The architect of the Dome was Hitler’s pet Albert Speer (1905–81), who based the design on Hitler’s sketches: it was essentially the Pantheon in Rome revisited, but five times taller and with a volume sixteen times greater. Speer rose via the design of Nuremberg Stadium (1937) to become Generalbauinspektor (head of architectural works) of the new Berlin. This was to be called Germania and the intention was to build it in 1948 after German victory. During the war, Speer rose again to become Minister for Mobilization and War Production. Tried at Nuremberg in 1946, he was imprisoned for 25 years. His memoirs were to become world-famous. He died in a hotel bedroom with his mistress in London while filming with the BBC.
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